SOME EUROPEAN BIOLOGICAL STATIONS.

CHANCEY JUDAY.

The first European biological stations, such as we know today, were founded some forty odd years ago. Previous to this time individual investigators visited the seashore, some lake, or river to carry on their researches on aquatic organisms, but in such cases it was necessary for them to improvise their own laboratories and to provide their own laboratory and collecting equipments. Under such conditions, of course, but few biologists could enjoy these opportunities and it is little wonder that the first permanent stations were heartily welcomed by the biologists of that time. These first laboratories were poorly equipped in comparison with the more modern stations, but they at least furnished a working place and some of the most necessary equipment. This made it possible for many more investigators to pursue researches at places where material was abundant and where work could be carried on under the most favorable conditions. It is not surprising, then, that these early stations enjoyed great popularity and rapidly increased in importance.

This growth in popularity and importance resulted not only in increased facilities at the earlier stations, but led to the establishment of others and the number is still gradually growing in spite of the fact that almost every European nation now has a liberal quota of such laboratories. The coast line has become dotted with marine stations and many fresh-water ones have been established on lakes and rivers. The constant increase in the number of both kinds furnishes ample testimony of the continued interest in such institutions. The modern sta-
tions owe their popularity to the fact that they are such excel-

lent places for carrying on research work. Here the investiga-
tor is supplied with the most necessary comforts and conveni-
ences which will make his work most pleasant and profitable.
He is free from all duties which might detract from the work
in hand and fresh material may be had in abundance. In other
words he enjoys good laboratory facilities while he is practically
in the field. At the larger stations, also, the investigator will
generally find himself associated with biologists from various
quarters of the globe and his results will be more fruitful in
consequence of the discussions, criticisms, and suggestions of
his co-workers.

Zoologists have taken a much more active interest in the estab-
lishment of these stations than botanists and they deserve the
chief, if not the entire credit for the founding of practically all
of them, many of them being called zoological rather than
biological stations. Yet the botanist is heartily welcomed at all
of them and is accorded the same privileges and facilities for
his work as the zoologist.

In addition to the regular laboratory facilities, several of the
marine stations possess important adjuncts in the way of sup-
ply departments from which both living and preserved material
is sent to the various universities for study in the class room,
for museum demonstrations, or even for research work. Ma-
terial destined for the latter will even be carefully prepared by
special methods if so desired. By rendering such services, these
supply departments greatly enhance the usefulness of such sta-
tions and also widen their influence very much. Several of the
stations themselves are adjuncts of universities, thus not only
serving as supply depots but also offering excellent opportunities
for work to their students of biology.

For the past few years, extensive and elaborate international
investigations have been in progress on the North sea. The
various governments taking part in this work, have assigned
their allotted portions of the researches to their respective
marine stations, thereby stimulating a greater interest in these
laboratories and adding greatly to their usefulness. While these
investigations were undertaken with a practical end in view,
that is, the improvement of the North sea fisheries, yet they are being conducted along broad scientific lines and so far they have yielded results which are very interesting and valuable from a purely biological standpoint.

The various marine and fresh-water stations of Europe have become such important factors in biological investigations because so much valuable work has been and is now being done at them, that a brief account of some of them may prove interesting to biologists.

England.

The Plymouth Laboratory was founded by the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. The present stone building was completed in 1888. It is located on a prominent bluff on a military reservation near the head of the bay and commands a fine view of the bay. A public aquarium occupies the ground floor of the main part of the building. It is equipped with large, well lighted aquaria in which the habits of the larger marine animals may be studied. The laboratory proper is located on the second floor, just above the aquarium. The main room contains 13 well lighted compartments which are at the disposal of investigators for a small fee. The center of the room is occupied by a number of small tanks which may be used for studying the smaller animals. The west wing of the building contains an apartment for the caretaker, the library, the museum, and chemical, photographic, and specimen rooms, together with the engine room and pumps. The east wing contains the director’s apartment, and two small working rooms. The laboratory staff is taking part in the North sea investigations and two ships have been chartered and equipped with dredges, trawls, and nets for this work. The station offers no instructional work whatever but it offers opportunities to universities to conduct summer classes here.

The Port Erin Station was established by the Liverpool Marine Biology Committee which was organized in 1885, largely through the efforts of Dr. W. A. Herdman, who is now director of the station. The present laboratory is the third that has been built by this committee. It is a stone building pleasantly
located at the southwest corner of Port Erin bay, Isle of Man. It stands at the base of a cliff on the side of which are the two large tanks which supply the hatchery and aquaria with water. The building consists of three parts. The central one is occupied by the aquarium which has several large, well lighted concrete tanks arranged along three of the walls, with smaller tanks in the center of the room. A gallery around this room contains a number of museum cases in which specimens of the local fauna and flora are exhibited.

On the ground floor of the east wing, there are six small work rooms on one side, which may be rented for 10 shillings a week each, and on the other side are the library, dark room, store room, and a general work room. The second floor of this wing consists of a large laboratory which is used as a general class room for students. The fish hatchery occupies the ground floor of the west wing and above this is a large room in which various types of fishing and scientific apparatus are exhibited. The ponds in which plaice are kept for breeding purposes are located just west of the building.

The private steam yacht of the director is used for dredging and plankton work. There is a rich fauna and flora in the immediate neighborhood, and, since the maximum difference between tide levels is about 6 m, much interesting material may be obtained at extreme low tide.

Through the munificence of Mr. W. H. Hudleston another English station was erected in 1908. It is located at Cullercoats near Newcastle-on-Tyne, and is an annex of Armstrong College at Newcastle.

In the autumn of 1901, Mr. Eustace Gurney built a freshwater laboratory at the edge of Sutton Broad about a kilometer and a half from the village of Stalham. It is a substantial brick building and is large enough to accommodate four or five investigators. The laboratory is provided with all necessary glassware, chemicals, and collecting apparatus, including a small motor boat and other collecting boats. This Broad—a term used locally for bodies of water having an area of two hectares or more—was a large sheet of open water until comparatively recent times but it is now filled with reeds and many other kinds
PLYMOUTH.

PORT ERIN, I. O. M.

SUTTON BROAD LABORATORY.

JUDAY:

EUROPEAN BIOLOGICAL STATIONS

COCKAYNE, BOSTON
of aquatic plants. There is scarcely any open water except the channels which are kept free for navigation. The shores of the Broad are ill defined, consisting of low, level marshes, large areas of which are submerged by a very slight rise of the water. The greatest depth of water does not exceed two meters. Although forty kilometers from the sea, high tides sometimes affect the level of water in Sutton Broad and during these times there is an appreciable rise in salinity. There are five other river valleys with their Broads all within easy reach of the laboratory.

Mr. Robert Gurney is director of the Station and the work at present is directed toward acquiring a general knowledge of the fauna and flora of the region as a preliminary for more detailed investigations into bionomical problems. So far a fairly complete knowledge of the Crustacea, Coleoptera, and Odonata has been obtained and, to a less extent, of the Rotifera and Hydrachnida. Chemical analyses have been made also to determine the effect of the tides. No charge is made for the use of the laboratory.

Scotland.

The Millport Laboratory was established by the Marine Biological Association of the West of Scotland. It is situated on the Isle of Cumbrae in the midst of the extremely rich and varied fauna of the Firth of Clyde, and is within easy reach of Glasgow. The building consists of a main portion and a wing, each two stories in height. On the ground floor of the former, there are several research rooms and above them are the Robertson Museum and the library. The museum contains the interesting and valuable Robertson collection of Ostracoda. The public aquarium occupies the ground floor of the wing and above this is a large, well lighted general laboratory. The station is well equipped with compound and dissecting microscopes, microtomes, and apparatus for physiological work. It also possesses a small collecting steamer.

During the summer, courses in biology are given which are adapted to the needs of both teachers and students. Along research lines it is the aim of the laboratory to make a detailed physical, chemical, and biological survey of the Clyde Sea Area.
Tables may be had in the research rooms for a nominal rental.

The marine laboratory at Saint Andrews is a stone building, one story high. There is a large, well lighted aquarium room and work places in an adjoining room for a dozen persons. It is under the direction of Professor MacIntosh of the University of St. Andrews.

The Scottish Oceanographical Laboratory at Edinburgh has also played a very prominent role in marine investigations. Dr. W. S. Bruce, its director, had charge of the Scotia Antarctic expedition and he has also made explorations in Spitzbergen. In this way the laboratory has obtained much valuable material from these regions. Part of this material has been studied by specialists and their results published, but much of it is still being studied or remains untouched.

A small marine laboratory is also maintained in connection with the fish hatchery at Aberdeen.

In 1897 very extensive investigations were begun on the lakes of Scotland by the Scottish Lake Survey under the direction of Sir John Murray. So far the work has been carried on without the aid of a biological station. At first attention was directed chiefly to a bathymetrical survey of the lakes and up to the latter part of 1906, when this part of the work was discontinued, 562 lakes in all had been sounded. Reports on this work and hydrographic maps of many of the lakes have already been published.

The biological phase of the work has been confined principally to making collections for a qualitative survey of the fauna and flora of the lakes. A study of the material that has been collected, has so far revealed the presence of more than 700 species of plants and animals. It has also brought out many interesting facts concerning the peculiar habits and unusual distribution of many forms. The several papers relating to the work which have so far been published, constitute a very important contribution to limnology.
Norway.

In common with the other European countries, Norway has also taken very great interest in marine stations. The importance of her marine fisheries has led to extensive investigations in the fjords along the coast and Norwegian biologists are now taking a prominent part in the international investigations on the North sea. The station at Bergen which is a dependency of the Bergen Museum, was established a number of years ago and it has grown steadily in importance. At present it is the leading station in the country. Its summer courses attract many biologists not only from Norway but from many other countries as well.

The two story building is a frame structure and is located near the head of a bay just outside one of the city parks. A public aquarium occupies the ground floor of the wing. The laboratories are located on the second floor and there are accommodations for about twenty-five individuals, but it has sometimes been necessary to provide for as many as thirty-five during the summer courses. The popularity of these courses is due in no small measure to the efforts of the director, Dr. B. Helland-Hansen.

The Michael Sars, which is the Norwegian ship taking part in the North sea investigations, is also at the service of this laboratory part of the time and is then used for explorations along the coast, especially in the fjords.

Some years ago also a marine station was established at Drøbak, a short distance south of Christiania. It is closed in winter but is visited by many biologists in summer.

Sweden.

The great interest of Swedish naturalists in biological stations is well attested by the three laboratories which now exist in that country. Two of them have been established only comparatively recently, but the third, the marine station on the Kattegat at Kristineberg, is one of the oldest stations in Europe, as it was founded in 1877, and it has become widely known through the large amount of important work that has been car-
ried on here by various Swedish investigators. The main building was erected rather recently, having been begun in the fall of 1903. It is two stories high. The first floor is occupied by a large public aquarium, three laboratory rooms, and a conservation room; the second has a stock room, four work rooms, and the library. The station possesses a fair sized collecting boat, the Sven Lovén.

In 1908 a station was established at Vassijaure, under the direction of the Royal Academy of Science of Stockholm. It is situated in Lapland, in northernmost Sweden, well within the arctic circle, and is near the northern limit of trees. The laboratory is near lake Vassijaure and is also only about 21 kilometers from the very large lake Torneträsk. The station possesses little in the way of apparatus except meteorological instruments. The building serves as laboratory and dwelling place for investigators. It was established for general scientific work but it is frequented most by biologists.

A second fresh-water station has just been built on some lakes in southern Sweden. Six tables are available for investigators. It is the aim of this laboratory to give special attention to the biology of fishes.

Denmark.

The modest laboratory of the Danish fresh-water station consists of the deck house of the ship used for the Ingolf Expedition. It was brought to Furesoo in 1898 and converted into the present laboratory. The station is equipped with a good motor boat, plankton nets, and various other kinds of collecting apparatus. It is most favorably situated, being located in a district where several lakes which possess very different physical and biological characters, may be easily reached from the laboratory. As a result of the investigations of Dr. Wesenberg-Lund, director of the station, the knowledge of the biology of these lakes has grown from almost nothing at the time the laboratory was established until they now may be classed among the most thoroughly studied lakes in the world. Two very important volumes relating to the work of the laboratory have been published as well as many shorter articles. In 1906 the station was annexed to the University of Copenhagen.
BERGEN.

FLOÖN.

BELGIAN STATION AT OVERMEIRE.

JUDAY:—

EUROPEAN BIOLOGICAL STATIONS

COCKAYNE, BOSTON
Holland.

In 1890 a zoological station was founded at Helders, in the province of North Holland, through the influence and support of the Zoological Society of Holland. It has been maintained regularly by this Society, but at present the government pays an annual rental for one floor which is used as the laboratory for the Hollandish biologists engaged in the International North sea investigations. The building is three stories high, the first and second floors being occupied by laboratories, a museum, and a library, and the third serving as a residence for the director, Dr. Redeke.

The chief aim of the station is to furnish accommodations for research work to the members of the Zoological Society. There are tables also for half a dozen students or young investigators, but such individuals must either first become members of the society or must be vouched for by a member. The laboratory is located on one of the mouths of the Zuyder Zee so that it has the advantage of both the North sea and the Zuyder Zee for collecting purposes. Helders itself is a very interesting city. It is the chief naval station of Holland and is also noted for its huge and extensive dykes.

Belgium.

The Station Biologique d’Overmeire is an annex of the Natural History Museum of Belgium. It is located on the lake of Overmeire not far from Brussels. The laboratory was opened in April, 1907, and it occupies a large residence on the shore of the lake which is known as Chalet Prince Albert. There are five rooms, three of which are used as laboratories, one for the small but well selected and growing library, and one for a museum containing a collection of local fauna. The basement is fitted up with aquaria and a dark room for photographic work. For such a young station it is very well equipped with collecting and laboratory apparatus.

The lake on which the station is located, lies in a low, flat, level country, and it is in fact an old abandoned bed of the Scheldt river. It has an area of 85 hectares and a maximum
depth of 5 meters. The fauna and flora are rich and varied and insure an abundance of material for the investigations which have been undertaken.

Germany.

The German government established a biological station on Helgoland soon after this island was acquired from Great Britain in 1890. The island is situated about 50 kilometers out from the mainland, directly off the mouths of the Elbe and Weser rivers. Thus very diverse and interesting biological conditions are found between the island and the mouths of these rivers. Tidal currents are very strong around the island also and much interesting pelagic material is brought to this region by them. Much good shore collecting is found along some portions of the island, too.

The station buildings at present consist of a large and substantial brick structure erected in 1904, and four dwelling houses which have been converted into laboratories. The ground floor of the brick building is occupied by a large public aquarium and above this are some laboratory rooms. The dwelling houses will soon be replaced by a large, modern station building, as a sum of money has recently been appropriated for this purpose by the German government. The library contains an unusually good collection of literature on both marine and fresh-water biology.

The local museum which is a dependency of the station, contains an excellent collection of birds which have all been captured on the island, as well as a good collection of local fishes and invertebrates.

The station is taking a very prominent part in the North sea investigations, Dr. F. Heincke, its director, and Dr. Ehrenbaum having charge of some of the most important fields of this work.

While there is no regular biological station at Kiel, the University, which is located directly on the shore of the Baltic, and the laboratory of the investigators taking part in the international studies on the North Sea may be regarded as marine stations. At the university one finds Dr. Hansen, the father of mod-
HELGOLAND.

BANYULS-SUR-MER.

RUSSIAN STATION AT VILLEFRANCHE-SUR-MER.

JUDAY:

EUROPEAN BIOLOGICAL STATIONS

COCKAYNE, BOSTON
ern marine planktology, still actively engaged in such work in spite of his advanced age, and Dr. Brandt who has made many valuable contributions to our knowledge of marine biology.

The laboratory of the staff engaged in the International Investigations is situated in a residential portion of Kiel, some distance from the university. Dr. O. Krümmel is director of the laboratory and two other members of its staff are the well known planktologists, Dr. Apstein and Dr. Lohmann.

The German government built a special ship, the Poseidon, for the North sea investigations. It is well adapted and splendidly equipped for this work. Most of the material which is obtained during the regular cruises of the Poseidon, is brought to the Kiel laboratory for the subsequent chemical and biological studies that are made thereon.

One of the most widely known fresh-water biological stations in Europe is the one located on the shore of Grossen Plöner See, in the quiet, picturesque town of Plön in Holstein. This station was founded in 1892 chiefly through the efforts of Dr. O. Zacharias, its present director. The brick building is two stories high, the second floor serving as a residence for the director. On the first floor, there is a large, well lighted general laboratory on one side of the central hall which affords accommodations for a number of students and investigators, and on the other side there is a small room for research work and a library. One room in the basement is supplied with aquaria and another is used for storing apparatus.

The station is equipped with boats and an abundance of collecting apparatus, such as dredges and various types of plankton nets. The work is carried on during the entire year, the chief part being done, of course, in the summer. Courses are offered during the summer and these attract many students and investigators. Every student of limnobiology is familiar with the journal coming from this station, a volume of which has appeared each year since 1893.

A biological and fish-culture station is located on Müggelsee at Friederikshagen near Berlin. A large, new three-story building was completed and occupied early in 1908, so that the laboratory now possesses much greater facilities for both biological
and fish-culture work. The station is conducted under the auspices of the German Fishery Association.

Important plankton investigations have also been made on the Elbe river in the vicinity of Hamburg. This work has been carried on by Dr. Richard Volk under the auspices of the Hamburg Natural History Museum. The plankton has been studied both qualitatively and quantitatively and chemical analyses of some of the crustacea have been made to determine their value as fish food.

Switzerland.

Strictly speaking there is no regular biological station on any of the Swiss lakes, yet the biologists of this country have been among the leaders in limnological work for many years. The classic work of Forel on lake Geneva has served as a model for very much of the work that has been done since its appearance. In 1887 a Limnological Commission was organized as a department of the Swiss Natural History Society and this commission drew up a comprehensive program for physical, chemical, meteorological, and biological studies on the lakes. As a result the various lines of work have been well co-ordinated and unified. Thorough and systematic studies have been made on four lakes for a number of years and some of the results have been published from time to time. Also Professor Zschokke of the University of Basel has devoted a number of years to a thorough and comprehensive study of the fauna of the typical Alpine lakes.

France.

The extended coast line of France offers some splendid opportunities for marine stations and the biologists of that country have availed themselves of some of these advantages by establishing a number of laboratories. Most of the stations are affiliated with universities and receive government aid but some have been founded by local scientific societies. Two are especially concerned with practical problems relating to the fisheries.

The largest and most important French station is the one that was founded by de Lacaze-Duthiers at Roscoff in 1872. Since the death of its founder it has been named the "Lacaze-Duthiers
Laboratory.” It is situated on the English Channel and collecting opportunities are most excellent here for there is a maximum difference of twelve meters between tide levels. The station is an annex of the Sorbonne. The buildings are located on a large plat of ground containing some 6,000 square meters and partially enclosed by a large, beautiful garden which contains many exotic plants, some of which are sub-tropical, this being made possible by the very mild climate.

The aquarium extends parallel with the shore line and is thirty meters long by ten wide. In the middle there are two large granite basins and along the walls of the two sides there are forty aquarium tanks. Between the aquarium and the sea, there is a large vivier, a basin which is used both for experimental work and to retain a supply of water for the laboratory.

A large addition to the laboratory was built in 1907 and 1908 which increased the work places to more than three times the original number. Formerly there were only twelve rooms for investigators but this number was increased to thirty-seven. Besides these, there is a general laboratory containing twelve work places and this number can be increased to eighteen if necessary. One room is reserved for the study of animal psychology, another for library, two for dark rooms, and one for physical and chemical investigations. There are also sixteen living rooms which are at the disposal of students and investigators for a very nominal rental.

The twenty-five investigators’ rooms that have recently been added are available for both foreign and French states, universities, and biological societies for an annual rental of 1,500 francs. It is the purpose of the present director, Dr. Y. Delage, to make the station international in character. Accordingly the stranger is given every privilege accorded the French biologist, that is, a table, reagents, microscope and other apparatus, as well as material, all gratis. It is open to investigators from April 1 to September 30. There are two summer sessions during which students are admitted. The first extends from July 15 to August 15 and the second from August 15 to September 15. The station possesses a collecting sloop twenty
meters long which is equipped with plankton and dredging apparatus.

The Sorbonne is unusually fortunate in having a second annex, the Arago Laboratory, which is situated on the side of a small bay at Banyuls-sur-mer, a small town on the Mediterranean coast only a short distance from the Spanish border. The three-story building contains a large public aquarium, a machine shop fully equipped for making the various kinds of apparatus needed, and a museum on the first floor. The second floor is devoted to laboratory rooms and a well equipped library, and the third chiefly to living rooms. A small building especially for photographic work has been erected recently. Beneath this building there is an underground chamber for experimental work in total darkness. It is so arranged that the animal or animals experimented on can be removed from this chamber and quickly photographed.

The station at Cette, founded by the late Professor Sabatier in 1879, is an annex of the University of Montpellier. The central portion of the large stone building is two stories high, with the aquarium and the museum on the first floor and large, well lighted laboratories on the second. The three-story end portions have not been entirely completed as yet.

One of the most productive stations is that which was founded by the late Professor Giard at Wimereux on the Straits of Dover in 1874. In 1867 a laboratory was built at Arcachon by a local scientific society but this station has since become affiliated with the University of Bordeaux. The marine station at Concarneau is devoted largely to practical fish culture but one floor of the building is reserved for scientific researches. The station at Marseilles is concerned primarily with fish culture, also. There is also a small station at Villefranche-sur-mer under the direction of Dr. Barrois.

The Russian station at Villefranche-sur-mer was established more than twenty years ago. The small, rather shallow bay on which it is located possesses a rich pelagic as well as a rich shore fauna. Very deep water is found a short distance off the mouth of the bay, so that a good variety of collecting territory is within easy reach. These advantages together with the mild
climate of the French Riviera make this an admirable place for a biological laboratory.

The building was formerly a Sardinian prison and through the efforts of Dr. Korotneff, the present director, it was acquired by the Russian government and transformed into a biological station. On the ground floor there are two general laboratories, the aquarium, the library, the museum, and a room for assorting, and preserving the material that is collected. Above the laboratories there are some living rooms, and a small research room. The station possesses a naphtha motor boat twelve meters long which is equipped with apparatus for dredging and plankton collecting. The laboratories are supplied with gas and both fresh and salt water. The station is open throughout the year. In March and April each year a practical course in zoology is given for the benefit of students and younger investigators. The station is international in character, being visited by Russian, German, Swiss, French, and Italian biologists.

Through the munificence of the Prince of Monaco, a very beautiful Oceanographic Museum has been erected in the city of Monaco. The corner stone of the building was laid on April 25, 1899, but it has required ten years to complete the structure. It is an imposing stone building, situated at the edge of the beautiful garden of St. Martin where the rock rises almost perpendicularly out of the sea. It is 100 meters long, the central part 20 meters and the two wings 15 meters wide. The structure is four stories high, two being below the level of the main entrance.

The preparation and mounting rooms, and the large aquarium are located on the first floor. The second floor has more preparation rooms, some store rooms, the library, zoological laboratories, two large chemical laboratories, and small rooms for the accommodation of about a dozen investigators. The two upper floors are devoted to the museum and a large assembly hall which will accommodate about 500 persons.

Many years ago the Prince conceived the idea of founding a museum and he began making collections for it as early as 1885. As a consequence nearly all of the museum material has been
collected by the Prince himself on his numerous scientific cruises. While the institution is nominally a museum, nevertheless researches are being carried on by a staff of investigators and the well equipped Eider makes trips regularly once or twice a week for the purpose of collecting material and making observations. The museum has recently become affiliated with the Sorbonne. Dr. Jules Richard is its present director. It was formally opened on March 29, 1910.

Austria-Hungary.

The Zoological Station at Trieste is pleasantly situated near the far end of the harbor, in a quiet residential portion of the city, and overlooks the Gulf of Trieste with its varicolored and very transparent water. The building was once a residence and belonged to the king of Spain. It has been converted, however, into a conveniently arranged and well equipped station. There are two rather large general laboratories, some smaller rooms for research work, a library, and a museum. The aquarium is rather small and is located in the basement, being somewhat dark.

The station now possesses a fair sized motor boat, especially built and well equipped for work in any part of the Adriatic. Previous to 1908, that is before the new boat was built, investigations were confined chiefly to the Gulf of Trieste and some of the shallower adjacent water. But with the present equipment, attention can now be directed to a much larger field of operations. Dr. C. I. Cori is the director of the station. It is open to research students during the entire year but naturally it is visited by the largest number of biologists during the summer.

The Zoological Station at Rovigno is located in the midst of a good collecting region on the Adriatic. The building was enlarged in 1902. It is pleasantly situated on a small, quiet bay. The first floor is occupied by an aquarium, a dining room, and a kitchen. The second floor is occupied by the laboratories and the library, while on the third floor, there are several well-furnished living rooms. During the regular summer season, board and room may be obtained at the station for about a dollar a
day. There are laboratory and living accommodations for ten persons.

Formerly the station served as a supply depot for the Berlin Aquarium but recently this Aquarium was abandoned. Its chief source of income at present is a subsidy from the Prussian government. Dr. Hermes is its director. Rovigno itself is an old city of about 10,000 inhabitants, chiefly Italian speaking. The large number of narrow, crooked streets and quaint buildings make the city an interesting place to visit.

In 1905 through the munificence of Dr. C. Kupelwieser of Vienna, a Biological Station was established on some lakes near Lunz, Lower Austria, by Dr. R. Woltereck of the University of Leipzig. Dr. Kupelwieser owns a large game preserve here, in fact practically an entire mountain valley in which there are three lakes. His large summer residence, the Seehof, stands near one of the lakes, and one wing of this castle has been converted into a pleasant, and well appointed laboratory. Two basement rooms contain aquaria which are supplied with an abundance of running water. One contains large cement aquaria for fish-breeding experiments, and the other has glass aquaria of various sizes.

On the ground floor are located the library room with a well selected and rapidly growing library, a general laboratory, two rooms with tables for research work, the director's room, a store room for apparatus and supplies, and a dark room fitted up for photographic and physiological work. Above the laboratory, there are several living rooms for the accommodation of students and investigators.

Not far from the Seehof is the "Dependance" of the station which contains living rooms for the assistants, a heating plant, and two glass culture houses. These glass houses contain cement and glass aquaria of various sizes. One, the Warmhaus, is fitted with steam heating apparatus for experimental work at high temperatures, the cement aquaria themselves being supplied with steam pipes. The other, the Kalthaus, is supplied with running water from a cold spring so that experimental work may be carried on at tolerably low temperatures. By means of these two houses, experiments may be carried on at temperatures vary-
ing from about 10° to 30° or even higher, so that the range of temperature is practically from alpine to tropical.

Between the Seehof and Lunzersee, along the stream which flows down from the lakes above, there are a few large ponds and some cement pools in which fish-breeding experiments are carried on.

The three lakes which lie within the station’s domain represent very different physical and biological conditions. The Untersee or Lunzersee on which the laboratory is located, is the largest. It is about 1,600 m. long, from 200 to 600 m. broad, and has a maximum depth of 34 m. Its altitude is 617 m. Further up the valley is the Mittersee, less than a quarter as large as the Untersee and having a maximum depth of only 4 m. It is fed largely by springs. Still further up the valley, at an altitude of 1,177 m., lies the Obersee. It is about 700 m. long, 300 m. broad, and has a maximum depth of 15 m. There is an abundant snowfall at this altitude in winter and the lake is covered with ice for several months each year, so that rather severe alpine conditions are found here. Also many small ponds and pools are found in this mountain valley and the surrounding country.

The beautiful and interesting mountain scenery and the well equipped laboratories make this an unusually good and attractive place for summer biological work. Tables in the laboratory as well as living rooms in the Seehof are gratis. Dr. H. Kupelwieser is the present director of the station.

The Bohemian Portable Laboratory was founded by Dr. Fritsch, its present director, in 1888. For some time after its establishment, this station was used for conducting investigations on some Bohemian lakes and lakelets. Then it was transferred to the Elbe river and has since been used as a base for making physical, chemical, and biological investigations on the Bohemian portion of this stream and its backwaters. The work is still being carried on at all seasons of the year, but chiefly, of course, in the summer. Several publications resulting from investigations pursued at this laboratory constitute most valuable contributions to the aquatic biology of Bohemia.

There is no permanent biological station on lake Balaton, but
the very important limnological work that has been in progress for some years and is still being carried on here, must be mentioned in this connection. Several valuable papers dealing with the physical, chemical, and biological phases of these investigations have already been published. Much of the work has been done under the direction of Dr. von Loozy, who is president of the commission.

Although the laboratory in the "Vivarium" which is located in the Prater at Vienna is purely for experimental researches and not for limnological work, it is well worth mentioning here. The one story building stands in a large court near the center of the park. It is a large structure and has a number of rooms, some of which are designed for special investigations and others for laboratories. Among the former may be mentioned two glass houses, a room fitted with special heating apparatus for experimental work on tropical animals, some rooms with large cement aquaria for work on fishes, and an underground dark room for cave experiments. Then there are chemical, physiological, botanical, and zoological laboratories. Dr. L. von Bartheim, director of the Laboratory, has charge of the botanical researches and Dr. Przibram has charge of the zoological work.

Italy.

The reputation of the Stazione Zoologica at Naples as the foremost marine station in the world is well deserved because of the conveniences, equipment, and material that are here accessible to every investigator. Even a brief visit suffices to explain why this station has become the mecca of biologists in every quarter of the globe. The three attractive stone buildings are situated in one of the city parks, the Villa Nazionale, and are surrounded by a wealth of semi-tropical vegetation. They are separated from the blue water of the Gulf of Naples only by a fashionable driveway and the balconies of the buildings command a splendid view of Vesuvius, the island of Capri, and other points of interest around the gulf.

The station was founded in 1874 by the late Dr. Anton Dohrn whose son is now its director. As a result of the founder's efforts and careful management, it has enjoyed a phenomenal
growth. It has been necessary to make two substantial additions to the original building, making three buildings in all at present. The first addition was the physiological laboratory which was erected some years ago, but the second addition has been completed just recently. The first two buildings had table accommodations for fifty biologists but the third itself will accommodate fifty, thus providing for a hundred in all. A subsidiary station has also recently been erected on the island of Ischia for the purpose of studying the fauna and flora of that district.

The station is gradually becoming self-supporting but it still receives subsidies from many of the European governments. Tables are rented for $500 each per year and many of them are subscribed for by governments, universities, and scientific institutions and societies.

A large public aquarium is located in the basement of the main or original building. The large display tanks are especially well lighted from above, so that the material that is on exhibition is seen most advantageously. The wealth and great variety of animals exhibited in the various tanks make the aquarium one of the chief attractions of Naples and it is regularly sought by large numbers of visitors.

The library has grown rapidly also and recently it became necessary to assign more room to it. It has long been regarded as one of the very best working libraries in marine zoology.

Another interesting feature of the station is the supply department. Much material is constantly being brought in and that which is not needed for immediate use in the laboratories, is killed and prepared for sale to universities, museums, or individual investigators. The methods used for preparing this material yield excellent results so that there is a good demand for these preparations. In addition to smaller boats, the station possesses two steamers which are equipped for deep-sea dredging.

A building has just recently been completed for a new biological station near Cagliari on the island of Sardinia. The work places and living rooms are at the disposal of investigators of all nations. The Sardinian coast possesses a rich and varied
ANNEX OF STATION AT LUNZ, AUSTRIA

ROVIGNO

NAPLES

JUDAY:

EUROPEAN BIOLOGICAL STATIONS

COCKAYNE, BOSTON
marine fauna which insures an abundance of material for the laboratories. Dr. Ermanno Giglio-Tos of the University of Cagliari is the director of the station.

Bulgaria.

The new kingdom of Bulgaria has already established a biological station at Varna, on the Black Sea, with Dr. T. Mornow as director.

Russia.

Russian biologists have long taken great interest in such laboratories and they were among the first to establish a station. One was founded at Sebastopol on the Black Sea in 1871, by the Royal Academy of Science of Sebastopol. A new building was erected in 1897 which contains laboratories that will accommodate seventeen investigators, a public aquarium, a museum room for local fauna, and a library. The station possesses a fair sized motor boat which is equipped with collecting apparatus. The laboratories are open to foreign as well as Russian biologists.

In 1899 a station was opened near Alexandrowsk on the Murman coast of Russia. It is situated on Catherine Harbor which lies well within the Arctic Circle.

Some years ago a biological station was established at Saratow by a local natural history society for the purpose of studying the fauna and flora of the Volga River in that vicinity.

Just recently a laboratory was founded at Astrachan for the purpose of making a special study of the fauna found in the delta of the Volga River and in the neighboring parts of the Caspian Sea. Dr. S. A. Mitropolsky is director of this station.